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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: First, I would

          3  like to say to the Committee, we thank you for the

          4  work that you have done in the past year and

          5  acknowledge the efforts of the Committee. I would

          6  like to recognize the members who are present.

          7  Council Member Lloyd Henry from Brooklyn, Council

          8  Member Sabini from Queens, Council Member Eristoff

          9  from Manhattan, Council Member Rivera from the

         10  Bronx, and I am Council Member Mary Pinkett from

         11  Brooklyn.

         12                 Of course, we have professional

         13  staff, Jay Damashek, who is our counsel, Chuck --

         14  what is your last name, Chuck, I am forgetting

         15  again.

         16                 MR. WALKER: Walker.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Walker, who is

         18  our communications person, and Beatrice Mayo who is

         19  from Investigation and Policy, who is now with us,

         20  and we are pleased to have her present at this time.

         21                 We are going to consider or discuss

         22  potential topics for the Committee on Governmental

         23  Operations for the Year 1999. You also have a log of

         24  the topics that the Committee acted on in 1998, and

         25  we will proceed from there.
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          2                 What we have is for 1999, those

          3  potential questions that are open and those things

          4  that are required of the Committee, and we would ask

          5  you to review them briefly and then we could

          6  commence our discussion.

          7                 We are now joined by Council Member

          8  Carrion from the Bronx.

          9                 I have also been advised regretfully

         10  that Richard Dachs, who is of our legal staff,

         11  passed on last night, so I thought that we should

         12  know that and appropriate expressions of sympathy

         13  should be sent, and I am sure the possible -- the

         14  notification will be sent to everyone so that they

         15  will be aware as to whom they should be sent to.

         16                 Hearing no comments, we have listed

         17  as one of the last hearings we held in 1998 was the

         18  oversight of City Voter Registration, in relation to

         19  the National Voter Registration Act, Motor Voters,

         20  including Intro. No. 450, a local law, to establish

         21  a system of staff, assisted voter registration of

         22  citizens entering into contract with City agencies

         23  and to distribute voter registration in tax packets.

         24  Is there any comment on that?

         25                 Council Member Sabini.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Just let me

          3  reiterate the comment I made at the time of the

          4  hearing on Council Member Miller's bill, which is

          5  that I think the Committee, besides its normal

          6  oversight on the appropriate agencies, should have a

          7  comprehensive discussion with all the appropriate

          8  agencies about what is wrong with our election

          9  process.

         10                 I believe the Board of Elections does

         11  an essentially good job under bad circumstances, but

         12  in recent years we have had the sort of start and

         13  stop of their run-off election last year, not the

         14  Board's fault, but still a problem and a confidence

         15  destroyer in this system, we had this historical

         16  charge of aliens stole my election by the Attorney

         17  General, we have a Voter Assistance Commission which

         18  is basically not functioning because of lack of

         19  staff, and maybe it shouldn't function, I am not

         20  sure.

         21                 We have a defunding of the elections

         22  project within DCAS, and we have a Campaign Finance

         23  Board which is under attack. And as I said at the

         24  hearing, it disturbs me that we have added in the

         25  last ten years three or four layers of the election
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          2  process and it is only getting worse, not better,

          3  participation is getting worse, even with the

          4  publishing of the Voter Guide, participation and

          5  things like referendum is down, even though we

          6  explain it to people. Something is wrong, and with

          7  all respect to Council Member Miller's proposal, I

          8  am not sure throwing more money at it is the best

          9  way to do it. It might be, and I may see myself

         10  voting for that bill, but I think there is an

         11  essential problem that this Committee needs to look

         12  at and figure out what is going on and how to fix

         13  it, and maybe that is taking the Board of Elections

         14  off budget, and maybe it is guaranteeing them

         15  certain budgets, maybe it is rejiggering them in

         16  some manner, I don't know. But something is wrong

         17  and I think we have to have a special hearing

         18  outside of our usual MMR hearing, and outside of our

         19  usual oversight hearing on each individual agency

         20  and have them all at the table to determine what we

         21  can do to make this system work.

         22                 We have voting machines that aren't

         23  going to work soon, we don't have any more parts for

         24  them, we are not buying any new machines, we have

         25  election inspectors who don't show up, and as I
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          2  said, we have the repeated attack on the confidence

          3  of the system, by the media or by people who lose,

          4  and there is something wrong, and I think we need to

          5  explore it in a macro sense. We may be the best

          6  people to do it, because we are the ones outside of

          7  the process and in the case of almost everyone on

          8  the Committee, they are not going to be running

          9  again.

         10                 So, I would submit that we need to

         11  take a broad brushed look at this, and invite all

         12  parties.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I think that is

         14  the reason this is priority number one. I think that

         15  in terms of what you described is the condition that

         16  makes this necessary to be priority number one. The

         17  Board of Elections cannot buy if they have no money.

         18  They hire men and their salary I believe is 20,000 a

         19  year. You are not going to get the best people for

         20  that kind of job, they have to work in the

         21  warehouses, staff poorly trained and then we say

         22  they don't do the job. Machines break down, but in

         23  the meantime we are not replacing those machines

         24  prior to election, we are not determining whether or

         25  not those machines are adequate for the job that is
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          2  required.

          3                 One of the things that I think we

          4  have to wonder is, why are we busy cutting the

          5  budget for the Board of Education -- Board of

          6  Election, if we want people to vote?

          7                 The second thing in terms of

          8  agencies, I would say the accountability, where does

          9  the buck stop? Why does it stop?

         10                 I believe that a lot of people do not

         11  vote for various reasons. We can print it in their

         12  language but if we don't reach out to them, if there

         13  is no real outreach to involve people, it makes

         14  absolutely no difference. So, I think that how we

         15  conduct this hearing is what you are talking about,

         16  and making it number one, and determining that there

         17  is a priority on this issue, I don't think there is

         18  any disagreement.

         19                 I don't think that we want to pass

         20  legislation just to say that we passed a bill. What

         21  we want to do is to make this a real piece of

         22  legislation, and if it has to be amended, we always

         23  have the possibility or the capability of amending

         24  legislation to achieve the effect that is necessary,

         25  that is required, that is needed, and our commitment
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          2  is to do just that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Madame

          4  Chair, I think the item number one limits itself to

          5  a procedure of enrolling and registering.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: But I think

          8  the point that John made goes beyond that and would

          9  call for a separate hearing almost in terms of the

         10  mechanics of the operation of the Board of Elections

         11  has nothing to do really with the registration

         12  procedure.

         13                 I would endorse what John has asked

         14  us to consider, because I think there is validity,

         15  very great --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Well, the reason

         17  it says registration, because that is the name of

         18  this particular entity that we are calling back.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: But I would

         21  agree and I think that is the reason we made this

         22  number one, because John did make that point at our

         23  last hearing.

         24                 We have been joined by Council Member

         25  Julia Harrison from Queens, and we will continue.
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          2                 Any other comments?

          3                 Council Member Eristoff.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Thank you

          5  very much.

          6                 I just have one little thought to add

          7  to this. I mean, I want to commend Council Member

          8  Sabini for bringing this topic up and I agree with

          9  him that people are not participating in the

         10  electoral process for a wide variety of reasons and

         11  it is not in fact fair to blame the Board of

         12  Elections in each and every case.

         13                 We all know of problems, specific

         14  problems, Council Member Harrison alluded to

         15  problems that I have experienced from my own

         16  elections.

         17                 However, there is clearly a systemic

         18  series of things going on, and it is not just in New

         19  York City, it is all across the country, and I would

         20  submit that if we are going to look at this, we

         21  ought to try to take cognizance of some of the

         22  larger trends going on.

         23                 You know, whether or not, for

         24  instance, the existence or lack of political,

         25  genuine political competition has anything to do
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          2  with low voter turnouts, the differences between

          3  general election and primary election in an

          4  environment like New York City where the dynamics

          5  are completely and totally different between those

          6  two kinds of scenarios.

          7                 The question of whether or not we

          8  should have nonpartisan elections in New York City,

          9  and would that, for instance, open up the process to

         10  more communities, more constituencies and in fact to

         11  wider participation. I believe very strongly that

         12  where you have genuine competition, active political

         13  races and competition, you actually generate

         14  turnout, and what has happened is I believe the vast

         15  majority of people feel that there is no genuine

         16  competition so their participation doesn't matter.

         17                 Anyway, that is one Council Member's

         18  point of view. I hope that we can delve into those

         19  issues along with a wide range of other issues that

         20  are implicated in this general conundrum of low

         21  voter participation.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you.

         24                 Council Member Rivera.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Good morning,
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          2  thank you, Madame Chair.

          3                 First I want to commend you and the

          4  Committee for the work that the Committee has been

          5  involved in throughout the last year. I think that

          6  as the beginning of the year that this is a great

          7  opportunity. We are dealing with an issue that

          8  towards the end of the year, around the election

          9  time, became a controversy. This is an opportunity

         10  for us to begin to deal with the strategy of

         11  conversation as opposed to confrontation.

         12                 This is a good opportunity for us to

         13  reach out to the Administration and do the

         14  following. True, there was an attempt during the

         15  last budget to practically do some things that would

         16  be very harmful to potential voters in the City of

         17  New York. Now, I am sure that everyone around here

         18  is very concerned about those things that could

         19  happen.

         20                 The other thing is that I think we

         21  should take the opportunity, I don't know, if it is

         22  called extending an olive branch to the

         23  Administration, but to perhaps under your

         24  chairmanship send him a letter or invite him to meet

         25  with this Committee and thank him for actually
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          2  resisting the pressure that was put to him by State

          3  Republicans into using police officers to knock on

          4  people's doors, potential voters of the City of New

          5  York. He, in fact, resisted that. He didn't do it,

          6  and I just think that it is some kind of an

          7  opportunity to start the year in this way.

          8                 I guess we are going to be going

          9  through each of the items, right? And then we can

         10  comment?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: If you want to

         12  say something on this same subject, and then we will

         13  get back to other items.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Thank you,

         15  Madame Chair. First I will thank you for your

         16  leadership, I have been on this Committee for a

         17  comparatively short period of time, and also to my

         18  colleagues, for being supportive in the process.

         19                 My question concerning the Board of

         20  Election is that to what extent would this Committee

         21  complete oversight of everything that is done by the

         22  Board, including their -- is there any job

         23  description, could we really look keenly exactly at

         24  what they should be doing, because it seems as if at

         25  times things tend to be a little haphazard in the
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          2  operation, and the administration can easily step in

          3  and insert its authority at certain times.

          4                 The reason why I am asking that is,

          5  if at any time could certain things be legislated

          6  from the Council so that, you know, they are

          7  safeguarded against the input or from the

          8  Administration? I believe it should be an

          9  independent body that should operate independently

         10  of the Administration and also of the Council.

         11                 So, my question is, you know, is

         12  there a clear job description laid out for the Board

         13  of Elections?

         14                 If not, what could we do in order to

         15  legislate certain things that would ensure there is

         16  independence.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: That is an

         18  interesting question.

         19                 I think that the Board of Elections

         20  or the City has a responsibility through this Board

         21  of Elections for the State of New York, and in each

         22  instance their rules and regs must conform with

         23  those of the state, so that when each of us file our

         24  election report, they then must confirm with the

         25  requirements of the state, and they ultimately must
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          2  go to the State of New York, so that the City being

          3  the creature of this State have not the control over

          4  the Board of Election.

          5                 What we can do and what we have done

          6  is to the degree that we possibly can influence, and

          7  I think this Council has exercised a great deal of

          8  influence, through the people who are appointed to

          9  the Board and that is where I think we exercise our

         10  greatest influence, that we make sure that the right

         11  people sit on the Board representing the interest

         12  and the concerns of the people of our City.

         13                 Secondly, in terms of the people who

         14  are appointed to work the Board, what we have done

         15  is to make sure that people come from the various

         16  communities so that I don't have to fear when my

         17  petitions hit my county headquarters or whatnot,

         18  that my enemies alone would be the persons who will

         19  review my petitions and make decisions.

         20                 What we attempt to do also in the

         21  Council, is when they make a decision as to cutting

         22  the budget to eliminate positions, we know that it

         23  is not in our best interest to permit that to

         24  happen. So we fight then to restore dollars and to

         25  restore positions.
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          2                 What we attempt to do also is

          3  strengthen the Board of Elections, but having them

          4  clearly understand that this is not a political nest

          5  egg we are creating. We want them to be independent

          6  in the sense that they know that whoever comes,

          7  whether it is Eristoff who is a Republican or Lloyd

          8  Henry who is a democrat, there is equal access, that

          9  there is indeed an integrity to that position, but

         10  above all, they are to use the laws of the election

         11  law to protect the interest of the people of this

         12  City.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: So, in hearings

         14  or oversight that we may have would be just symbolic

         15  then --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: No, it's more

         17  than symbolic. It means that we have an influence,

         18  we can also petition the state. We can petition

         19  indeed in terms of speaking to -- when we have a

         20  hearing here, if you note one thing, both the

         21  Republican and the Democratic Commissioners come to

         22  our hearings, we do not just have Democratic

         23  committees. New York City is considered to be a

         24  Democratic City, but every Commissioner comes to our

         25  hearing.
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          2                 Now, Council Member Rivera made an

          3  important political statement. He said let's send a

          4  letter of appreciation to the Mayor because he did

          5  not exceed to Vacho's response, Attorney General

          6  Vacho's request, that he have the police go

          7  door-to-door. That was basically a political

          8  decision. It says that, Mr. Mayor, we want to thank

          9  you for not helping to create a situation that

         10  should not be.

         11                 But then we would have to turn our

         12  back on the fact that all of the agencies that

         13  should have registered people and have the right

         14  under the law to do so, were not enabled to do so in

         15  this Administration.

         16                 So, anybody who came into HRA should

         17  have been able to have a voter registration card,

         18  should have been able to register, but they weren't.

         19                 What we can do is say let bygones be

         20  bygones, the New Year says thank you for this

         21  particular act. We want to start from this day

         22  forward, and that is what he is suggesting.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LLOYD: I would second

         24  that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: And what he is
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          2  saying is that that has the political influence that

          3  can transcend those other actions and perhaps lead

          4  to other political benefit.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: One of the

          6  things I am concerned about is, and one member

          7  alluded to it earlier, the voting machines, they are

          8  antiquated, outdated.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Now, come three

         11  years from now when the majority of us will be out

         12  of office, there will be then more need, the need

         13  would be more acute for us to have new machines,

         14  because we will have, you know, hundreds of

         15  candidates buying for --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: That is going to

         17  be up to Andrew Eristoff to see to it that they have

         18  voting machines, it is going to be up to Carrion,

         19  but it is also our responsibility too.

         20                 Thirdly, it is up to us also, because

         21  I don't want them to undermine all of the work that

         22  has been done before. If we surrender the work and

         23  the effort that has been done in our communities, we

         24  can retreat and go back into the woodwork.

         25                 Julia has done a lot of work in her
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          2  community and she is seeing a rapid transition in

          3  her community.

          4                 However, if all of the work that she

          5  has done is undermined because no one pays any

          6  attention, take a budget as a good example, and I

          7  think Sabini can attest to that and you will know

          8  this from City Planning, you have something that you

          9  request in a budget, it may take ten years for that

         10  to actually come to fruition; is that correct?

         11                 If you don't monitor it, if you don't

         12  follow it, if you don't get it in, it gets lost. The

         13  money that is appropriated ends up in the general

         14  fund and your project is dead. So, no one is off the

         15  hook, everyone has to be involved.

         16                 We have to take the same concern

         17  about voting machines that we are taking about

         18  computers in the Year 2000.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: It will affect

         20  especially minority communities.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: If minority

         22  communities can live without majority communities in

         23  this City, that would be wonderful, but they can't.

         24  So, it is a concern for every community, because we

         25  have to stop kidding ourselves that minority
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          2  communities can exist in vacuums, they cannot.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: I don't have

          4  any majority communities in my district, we are all

          5  minorities.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: There are no

          7  majority communities, or very few.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: We are all

          9  minorities in my district.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: We are all

         11  immigrants.

         12                 Council Member Carrion, followed by

         13  Council Member Harrison.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you,

         15  Madame Chair.

         16                 I also want to take pause to commend

         17  you for the work of this Committee in 1998, and it

         18  was for me my primer into this process. And I

         19  remember one of the most embarrassing moments I had

         20  was when you started talking about Crosswalks, and I

         21  said, oh, yes, no curb cuts, and you said, oh, no,

         22  we are talking about the TV station. And then of

         23  course I was sheepish for awhile there.

         24                 But I want to agree with all my

         25  colleagues that this is the number one concern I
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          2  think because it is the basis by which we operate as

          3  a democracy and unfortunately we do have a crisis

          4  and we need reform because the electorate and the

          5  potential electorate is not participating,

          6  therefore, our representation is in fact not what it

          7  should be and what it ought to be and probably what

          8  the people want. So, we have to look at

          9  infrastructure. We have to look at practice and

         10  processes, we have to look at a body of law that

         11  sets up the jurisdiction.

         12                 But I just want to add, because I

         13  think everybody has alluded to that, I want to add

         14  that we have to do it early enough this year, and

         15  with such vigor and so loud that we actually begin

         16  to create reforms.

         17                 And, so, I want to join with you and

         18  with my colleagues to really turn up the volume in

         19  terms of infrastructure process law, what are we

         20  doing as a City to encourage participation.

         21                 And if we are going to do anything in

         22  terms of reform, we need to do it early enough so

         23  that we can effect a budget discussion, the current

         24  budget discussion, and begin to chip away at the

         25  reforms that we need to make. So, I just want to
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          2  join the choir.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I think that is

          5  a very important factor. The budget is what makes

          6  this City, and that is one thing we have to learn,

          7  it is not yelling that we are minority or majority,

          8  it is how those dollars are spent, and I think that

          9  is significant for all of us.

         10                 Council Member Rivera, you had

         11  something else you wanted to add and we wanted to

         12  get back to this situation.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: No, go ahead.

         14  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Okay. The

         16  review of campaign financing in New York City and

         17  Campaign Finance Board procedures, and especially

         18  for the upcoming special election. I think it is

         19  fair to state because of the fact of the Mayor's

         20  victory, in terms of campaign of the Charter

         21  Revision. The law as we have passed it is under

         22  question.

         23                 So, some of the things that we passed

         24  in Campaign Finance Law, and the Board of course has

         25  their own opinion, and there is that kind of
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          2  dialogue that is going on, which one will prevail.

          3                 But as far as we are concerned, I

          4  think the most important faculty, the question as

          5  Peter stated yesterday in regards to the amount that

          6  you may receive for buying or opting into campaign

          7  finance, whether you retire as a millionaire or

          8  whether you come up with $1,000 no matter what you

          9  do under this particular system. There are all kinds

         10  of questions that must be decided around that

         11  particular issue, so I would like to leave that

         12  until we get further information and then come back

         13  to this Committee with whatever information that we

         14  have so that we can act intelligently upon it, but

         15  this of course remains an important issue for us.

         16                 I would say the oversight of the

         17  Board of Elections and procedure used in the most

         18  recent elections, along -- would be very, very

         19  important as far as we are concerned.

         20                 These special elections cost a lot of

         21  money, and how they are handled would be very

         22  important and I think that is important.

         23                 Is there any thinking on this? Any

         24  questions about this?

         25                 No questions?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: School board

          3  elections?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Well, the

          5  special elections. There are no school board

          6  elections that I know of.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: If I might?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Go ahead.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: My only

         10  reaction to this is to say that we will probably

         11  explore some of these topics in the context of the

         12  MMR hearings and/or budget hearings, because there

         13  is budgetary impact of having special elections.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Excuse me?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: I am just

         16  saying this topic number three could very well be

         17  perceived as part of our MMR/budget oversight, so it

         18  may not even merit a separate hearing.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: It could be,

         20  except for the fact that I think if we are talking

         21  about the registration and how this happens, I think

         22  there should be a clear understanding by us and the

         23  Board of Election in terms of what it is we are

         24  looking at, what concerns we have.

         25                 I don't know, it could be part of the
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          2  MMR. But we also talked of having some discussion

          3  relative to the way in which we handle an MMR. And

          4  if we do that, we would not want to include it in

          5  the usual dull MMR process, unless we changed that

          6  process. I would like to see the Board of Election

          7  more accountable, more informative, used in a better

          8  fashion for us to have the kind of dialogue that we

          9  want.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Well, my

         11  only point is a practical one. The elections are

         12  scheduled for what, the 16th of February.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Just about

         15  at that time the Mayor's Preliminary Budget comes

         16  out and we have a round of Preliminary Budget

         17  hearings which basically, you know, clear the decks,

         18  and that is what we concentrate on. It is just I

         19  don't know whether we will have the time to have a

         20  separate hearing on that, but I mean, I don't have

         21  any objection to it --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I don't think we

         23  could do anything about the special election. Not a

         24  specific special election. I am just saying that

         25  simply what I see the Committee doing is also
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          2  projecting the future. We are not just talking about

          3  this election, do we have any ideas, anything that

          4  we want to pass along, any suggestions in terms of

          5  how things should be handled, and I think that is

          6  pertinent. But it doesn't mean that on the 16th we

          7  are saying -- or the 12th, hold up everything until

          8  we describe what should happen on the 16th, it is

          9  not going to work that way. It couldn't possibly

         10  work this way.

         11                 So, that does not apply, as far as I

         12  am concerned. But we can debate that, it is a

         13  germane issue.

         14                 Looking at Crosswalks, I think that

         15  is a very important issue, because look at

         16  Crosswalks and they break it sometimes in half, or

         17  at the most inopportune times. I find that now

         18  Crosswalks is part Council, or mostly Mayoral, a lot

         19  of Mayoral agencies and committees and the Mayor,

         20  and the Council comes in at different hours on

         21  different times on different days.

         22                 Perhaps we would like to know more

         23  about the operation of Crosswalks, how they decide

         24  what they are doing; would that be feasible?

         25                 Yes? No?
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          2                 Council Member Rivera, then Sabini.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: When you put

          4  together number 12 with number 5, oversight of

          5  multi-ethnic programming, the only outlet out here

          6  happens to be Crosswalks, unless there is something

          7  that I do not know.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I have no

          9  problem if that is going to suit the convenience --

         10  we could ask how much of the ethnic communities

         11  broadcast over Crosswalks, we could ask that

         12  question. I don't see Crosswalks doing too much of

         13  that. I don't see Crosswalks doing too many ethnic

         14  communities.

         15                 I see them doing more City

         16  communities and much more of the Mayor, but I don't

         17  see a lot of ethnic programs on Crosswalks.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: At this point

         19  in time, of course prior to the Year 2001, they

         20  invite speakers to their forum who are not

         21  representative of the make-up of the City of New

         22  York, and the speakers will go on to give a

         23  description of what the City will look like in terms

         24  of who is going to represent who in the future.

         25                 I also would like to take this
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          2  opportunity to express my gratitude to Councilman

          3  Eristoff and the other gentleman, I forgot his name,

          4  he was an Assemblyman, Republican, I forgot his

          5  name, recently I turned on channel 2 at 5:00 in the

          6  morning, and I see all of my friends there speaking

          7  about the future of the City of New York. With all

          8  due respect to them, it is not their fault, but that

          9  panel had no black or Hispanic representation in it.

         10                 I want to thank Eristoff, it was him

         11  and it was him and it was the Republican

         12  Assemblyman, not my democratic colleague, that

         13  reminded the City that there might be a minority

         14  running for office in the Year 2001, for Citywide

         15  office. It was Marsha Kramer, it was at 5:00 in the

         16  morning. I was up early.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: We were on

         18  with Herb Berman --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: And Gifford

         21  Miller.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: And it was

         24  the Friday before Christmas, or the Thursday before

         25  Christmas, and I don't think anybody else was
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          2  interesting in showing up.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Who did Marsha

          4  ask? That would be the question. I don't think

          5  anyone was invited, knowing Marsha.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: So, what I am

          7  trying to say is I feel that until we begin to do

          8  something, that maybe we can correct some of that --

          9  the only outlet happens to be Crosswalks right now.

         10  You are right, Madame Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: May I also say

         12  to you, the one reason we fought so hard for WNYC

         13  was before then we had a station that was a

         14  City-owned station and it was a City-owned station

         15  for years, and that City-owned station had people

         16  that was representative of these people of the City

         17  of New York. Not only in terms of programming but in

         18  terms of staff. Which to me is very important. It

         19  means that those people who live in the City, who

         20  work in the City, who provide a service in this City

         21  also look like the City, all right? And that is a

         22  rapidly diminishing fact.

         23                 And my question that I asked

         24  yesterday was, what has happened to the minority

         25  population? Had they disappeared? Why aren't they
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          2  seen where they ought to be seen?

          3                 And so to me, as far as I am

          4  concerned, Crosswalks may be nice, but to me there

          5  still is that absence that is very, very important.

          6                 The fact that occasionally we see one

          7  or two people is not enough. It is not enough. I

          8  think also that, I have been told, I don't know how

          9  true it is, if you can edit out or if you can cut,

         10  if you eliminate, the Council I don't think has the

         11  same coverage in Crosswalks that they had in WNYC.

         12                 Council Member Sabini.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: At the risk of

         14  spurring disagreement on this, I think that -- well,

         15  I disagreed with the Chair over the sale of WNYC

         16  originally, and I don't think the world has been so

         17  hurt since we sold it, and Crosswalks, to their

         18  defense, and you may remember, I asked for an

         19  oversight hearing on Crosswalks some years ago

         20  because I thought there was a problem with it, I

         21  will say in their defense, they are now going 24

         22  hours a day and based on anecdotal evidence, not

         23  empirical evidence, I will say that I think they put

         24  us on when we deliver a product. I see a lot of

         25  mayoral stuff during the holidays when we are not
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          2  frankly in session, and when we do have lots of

          3  hearings, I tend to see a lot of us. Again, that is

          4  anecdotal and not empirical. But I think a lot of

          5  the amount of window of time we get is based on the

          6  product we are putting out, and the better part of

          7  last month we haven't put out much product for them

          8  to see and I don't think they want to show the same

          9  hearings over and over again.

         10                 When we do put out a lot of product

         11  and we do have a lot of media hearings I see them

         12  all the time. So, I think they have been fairer of

         13  late in the last year or two than in the past years,

         14  I think the product has improved. And, again, it is

         15  not empirical evidence, but as a watcher of it, I

         16  think we are on our fair share right now. And in

         17  fact, I even see the Public Advocate at this town

         18  meetings covered, just like the Mayor's town

         19  meetings were covered.

         20                 And they have covered community

         21  meetings too, so I don't know how they make the

         22  decisiontry work in terms of what they cover and

         23  maybe that is a fair question to ask, but I think a

         24  lot of it is based on what product we put out too.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Well, let me
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          2  just say this: Possibly you are quite right in terms

          3  of the meetings in the afternoon, the Council

          4  sessions. I don't know if they said to Council

          5  Members if you had a community meeting, will you let

          6  us know, we would like to cover it, I am sure

          7  Council Members would comply.

          8                 I can picture you having a meeting in

          9  your community and it would be fascinating. I went

         10  to a meeting in your community, I spoke, they spoke,

         11  and someone interpreted.

         12                 I think the world would be very

         13  interested in knowing that in this City there is

         14  such a community. I think that if Eristoff had such

         15  a meeting, they would respond. I think if LLoyd

         16  Henry knew, they would respond. I would think if

         17  Carrion had a meeting in the community, they would

         18  respond.

         19                 I think further that I can recall

         20  when WNYC used to have that station, I saw all kinds

         21  of people who were the people who had the sound, who

         22  had the cameras, and they looked like the people of

         23  the City of New York. That has slowly disappeared.

         24                 So, I am talking in more than one

         25  face. I am rather tired of people telling me that I
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          2  saw two people on television and they were black or

          3  Latino, and then I see everybody coming in with the

          4  equipment and all the professional skills and they

          5  are not, they are not us, because we need to work

          6  too. And the people who had those skills were moved

          7  out of their jobs. Where would they go? Why didn't

          8  they move? Why didn't they keep their job? What

          9  happened to them?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: I have a

         11  point of information.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Crosswalks,

         14  with some persistence and advance notice will in

         15  fact cover a community meeting.

         16                 I did a series of three community

         17  meetings jointly with Council Member Miller, we

         18  called them East Side 2000, we were looking at major

         19  trends in the East Side, there were a series of

         20  panel discussions and whatnot, and they came and

         21  taped all three and then broadcasted them. And what

         22  I would also like to point out is in fact the two

         23  technicians that came were persons of color. So at

         24  least that crew met your concern. And I suspect that

         25  they would entertain any reasonable request for
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          2  coverage of that nature.

          3                 In fact, my impression is that if you

          4  give them enough lead time, they are quite

          5  interested in doing more of that kind of thing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:     I am happy

          7  to hear that. I will tell you what I would suggest.

          8  I think that it was great the they did your district

          9  and Council Member Miller's District, two adjacent

         10  upper east side districts.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: One

         12  location.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: One location. I

         14  think it is marvelous. And I will tell you what, I

         15  think that is a rap that is pleasant. It is a good

         16  rap.

         17                 Now, the real struggle would be if

         18  Council Member Rivera, or Council Member Carrion or

         19  Lloyd Henry or myself would say, hey, we want to do

         20  something in our district, and you would say, well,

         21  I don't know, I think they would do it. I think they

         22  would.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Actually,

         24  going to our district was more of a hassle for them

         25  than staying in the Bronx would be, for instance.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Why?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Because it

          4  involves travel at night. They are located in the

          5  Bronx. So, you know, there is travel time for them.

          6  So, you have to, in making a request you have to

          7  understand that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I understand

          9  that. Let's say if the Mayor had the town hall

         10  meeting in the Bronx, they would come to the Bronx,

         11  wouldn't they?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Yes, they

         13  will go anywhere. But the point is, they didn't just

         14  come to my district because it was easiest.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: No, I don't

         16  think they came to your district for that. I think

         17  it is wonderful that that happened, and I am glad to

         18  hear that information.

         19                 The point I am making is, if that

         20  that is available, it should be something that is

         21  known, that could be planned for, can be scheduled

         22  and that more Council Members should know so that

         23  they can take advantage of that possible process.

         24                 Would you agree?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Sure.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay, that is my

          3  point.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: You know, we

          5  can take a cue from them and begin working in

          6  concert and not doing our own thing, individual

          7  thing, the lone rangers. If we work in concert, then

          8  I think they will take notice of it, and would be

          9  more responsive.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes. I think

         11  that is good information and we will use that.

         12                 Council Member Reed from Manhattan

         13  and the Bronx has joined us, and we will proceed.

         14                 Now, we have talked about table. We

         15  have agreed that, despite what I have said, I am

         16  still happy for the fact that we have the television

         17  station that is still connected to New York City,

         18  and I do for them what they do for us. If they

         19  criticize us we have to take it because it is

         20  constructive criticism and I also understand that

         21  they know that when I criticize it is constructive,

         22  I hope they understand that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Just a simple

         24  question.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: What role does

          3  New York 1 play in this whole thing?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: They are a

          5  commercial station. They don't play any role, except

          6  that if they scratch the right back, they get the

          7  opportunity to get enough coverage.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Because they

          9  seem to be more responsive.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: To whom? They

         11  station their reporters and their reporters go out

         12  into the various areas of Brooklyn or Queens or

         13  wherever. Do you have a problem with New York 1

         14  coming into Queens?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: No.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: What about the

         17  Bronx?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: No.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: So there doesn't

         20  seem a problem there.

         21                 It is one commercial station that

         22  does come into the area that we will call

         23  occasionally. It depends on what their interest

         24  happens to be.

         25                 Now, on 13; any questions on 13? Can
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          2  we move this now?

          3                 Fourteen?

          4                 Fifteen?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: On 15, Madame

          6  Chair, what are the agencies that are directly under

          7  this Committee's jurisdiction, just for my own

          8  edification?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: DORIS -- let's

         10  let the Counsel name them.

         11                 MR. DAMASHEK: It is the Department of

         12  Citywide Administrative Services --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: DCAS.

         14                 MR. DAMASHEK: DCAS.

         15                 Campaign Finance Board. Voter

         16  Assistance Commission. Community Boards. Board of

         17  Standards and Appeals. Tax Commission. Law

         18  Department. DORIS. And actually almost any general

         19  municipal operation. I mean, it is pretty open.

         20  FISA.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Would you like

         22  to add another?

         23                 Okay, any other question?

         24                 All right, we did 14.

         25                 Fifteen. Does anyone have a concern
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          2  besides me about privatization?

          3                 Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Not

          5  necessarily about privatization, but one that is not

          6  on the list and I am wondering based on reports in

          7  the media and scuttlebut around the building, if we

          8  are scheduling anything on the merger of the

          9  Department of Health or the Department of Mental

         10  Health?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: We have not

         12  scheduled anything because we were waiting for the

         13  Department, this City to provide us with information

         14  which they failed to provide us with and which we

         15  had requested on numerous times, so thereby there

         16  was nothing we could do, and the parents and the

         17  advocates who were very satisfied with that because

         18  they did not want us to do anything with that

         19  information.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: I received a

         21  letter from Assemblywoman Connolly, Elizabeth

         22  Connolly, Staten Island, who is Chair of the Mental

         23  Health Committee in the Assembly.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: And she was
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          2  absolutely beside herself with frustration and anger

          3  and dismay at the fact that there might be that

          4  merger taking place, and she felt it was a sin

          5  against humanity.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: She has not

          7  attended any of the meetings with the parents and

          8  with the Committee, because those who packed this

          9  chamber out here and came to the meeting here were

         10  concerned that there would be such a merger, and

         11  they were the ones who made us aware of this

         12  document, and the only thing that calmed them down

         13  was when we then asked for this document which we

         14  were not aware of, and requested of Dr. Cohen and

         15  Dr. Gill that they provide this documentation for

         16  us, and when we did not receive it as they promised

         17  and we asked the legislative office of the Mayor to

         18  provide it for us and we did not get it and have

         19  only recently received it, then did we get them to

         20  agree that that is what they wanted us to have, but

         21  they wanted no action taken without having all of

         22  the information.

         23                 So, what you do have is --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: The bill of

         25  rights?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Oh, they have

          3  rights. What you do have is people who have a

          4  concern for whatever their reasons who want to have,

          5  who are telling people that they will lose in the

          6  budget process, and we are not going to let anybody

          7  lose money in the budget process, that people will

          8  not be taken care of, that is inflammatory. You have

          9  people who are concerned because they think their

         10  children are not going to be cared for, that is not

         11  going to happen. So, the real thing is, how do you

         12  do this so that parents' fears can be handled

         13  properly and that information can be given to this

         14  Committee so that we work intelligently.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: I guess it

         16  requires sort of a vote of faith and confidence in

         17  the existing procedures of various agencies, which

         18  unfortunately I don't always have.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: They knew that

         20  they had to put out this request for information,

         21  but they did not tell us until we found out about

         22  it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: I am sorry,

         24  I don't trust anymore. I am concerned about what

         25  happens after the merger occurs and how well the
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          2  rules are, the documents are complied with and what

          3  does happen in fact, you know, do we go forward or

          4  backward.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Well, I would

          6  think that Assemblywoman Connolly is correct in

          7  being concerned. I didn't say she was not concerned

          8  enough in this sense, because the issue is not that

          9  they are being denied but someone is saying they

         10  will lose money and they will lose the budget. That

         11  is what people are being told.

         12                 I have attended meetings with the

         13  parents and the constituency groups. You have also

         14  advocates and you have providers who have attended

         15  meetings and they are divided as to what they want.

         16                 Whether there should be the merger of

         17  the Health Department with the Mental Health, and

         18  there are those who say, no, there shouldn't be,

         19  because they would like to have one little thing or

         20  another. So, the only way we can do this is to have

         21  adequate information so that we can at least

         22  properly decide what is going to be the best thing

         23  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Well, my

         25  only concern is the continuation of people like Dr.
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          2  Neal Cohen and whom the parents of the Mental Health

          3  children or population had great confidence --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: The parents were

          5  at the meeting --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: But what

          7  happens if Dr. Neal Cohen is not there --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Dr. Neal Cohen

          9  and the parents were at the meeting where we

         10  requested that hearing and they agreed, they were at

         11  the meeting. And they don't want to be considered

         12  mentally disabled, those parents --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: No, but they

         14  certainly need help.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: What they want

         16  is not even the mental health. They don't even want

         17  to be considered part of mentally disabled. The

         18  parents of those children do not want their children

         19  characterized under that fashion. They don't want

         20  that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Well, what

         22  is the problem with the children then? Why are they

         23  a separate agency now?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: They are under

         25  Mental Health but they are not satisfied with that.
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          2  They feel that their children cannot be helped by

          3  this characterization. They feel that their children

          4  have developmental problems, but they don't want

          5  them to be characterized as mental problems.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: I see.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay.

          8                 So, you may have a child 32 years old

          9  who cannot use toilet facilities --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: So that is

         11  developmentally, they want --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: They want to

         13  call them developmental problems.

         14                 Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Madame Chair,

         16  you mentioned or asked if anybody else was concerned

         17  about privatization. I am very concerned about

         18  privatization, and I know that item 7 talks about

         19  continued oversight of specific privatization

         20  initiatives and number 16 talks about the trips and

         21  other jurisdictions, et cetera, et cetera.

         22                 That sort of can be I guess an A and

         23  B of the same item, and we could visit it that way.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes, it could.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: I just want
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          2  to say that it should definitely be high on our

          3  list, and we should really look at peeling off the

          4  layers, because there are some obvious things have

          5  been attempted to be privatized, hospitals, higher

          6  education, some public school education, some social

          7  services. I know that across the country and even in

          8  this state there is talk about prisons. I don't know

          9  what may be some of the machinations that are going

         10  on behind the scenes in terms of our City

         11  jurisdiction, vis-a-vis the prisons and jails that

         12  we are responsible for, and some other services. And

         13  it's a very serious sort of fundamental issue for

         14  our society in terms of giving over to the profit

         15  mode of certain things that can become extremely

         16  corrupt because they can become very self-serving.

         17                 And, you know, for the purpose of

         18  self-perpetuating, you create systems that keep your

         19  clientele coming or keep certain conditions existing

         20  because of the profit motive.

         21                 Obviously this is a very heavy topic,

         22  but it is of great concern. So, I would imagine, I

         23  don't know if this list is an order of priority, but

         24  if it is not I think we should definitely have

         25  prioritization up high.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

          3  Henry.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Madame Chair, I

          5  think my Subcommittee had communicated with your

          6  Committee concerning Census 2000. And looking

          7  through this list I don't see it reflected here, and

          8  I think that it is an important item that should be

          9  addressed.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: That is very

         11  important, okay.

         12                 Are there any others?

         13                 Council Member Rivera.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Once again, I

         15  want to congratulate you, Madame Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Yesterday I

         18  sat there in the Chamber, as the rest of our

         19  colleagues did, and we were reminded with the

         20  presentation made to you of your 25 years in this

         21  body, the amount of experience and things that have

         22  been accomplished during those 25 years.

         23                 Sadly, it is probably only known to

         24  those in your district, and those of us who are in

         25  this body.
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          2                 What am I trying to say? It seems to

          3  me like we have a very exciting agenda ahead of us.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: And I am

          6  congratulating you for that also. Very interesting,

          7  challenging.

          8                 When I congratulate you, I also want

          9  to express my gratitude, as a result of these

         10  hearings and this agenda, some of the things that

         11  were shared with us here, and the suggestions, and I

         12  think we should take them, one of them was from our

         13  good friend Councilman Eristoff. He described to us

         14  what seems to me as a good thing. Him and Miller has

         15  something that reminds me of a traveling show of

         16  Bing Crosby and Bob Hope --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Who is Bob Hope?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Who is Bing

         19  Crosby? But he is right. He is right. I think that

         20  if we were able to do some constant analysis of not

         21  only Crosswalks but as to those areas that we really

         22  don't have oversight, by Channel 2, Channel 7, it

         23  would be interesting. But, however, it doesn't stop

         24  us, even though we can hold oversight over them, it

         25  doesn't stop this Committee, and you, Madame Chair,
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          2  from drafting a letter and reminding those

          3  institutions that the City of New York is so

          4  diverse, and that they should not continue to send

          5  the wrong message, you said something, where are the

          6  blacks, where are the Hispanics? Somehow we should

          7  be able to put a letter together and remind them

          8  that the viewers, there are the diverse viewers and

          9  that they shouldn't be contributing to sending the

         10  wrong message that blacks and Latinos probably

         11  cannot have no opportunity to higher office in the

         12  City of New York.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I would gladly

         14  do that, and I think this Committee would agree.

         15                 The one thing I would do first,

         16  though, is to send a letter to the City of New York,

         17  and I started doing this years ago and as a result I

         18  got removed from the Rules Committee which I was on,

         19  from other important committees, because when they

         20  came before us, I was on Finance Committee and I was

         21  taken off that, and Tom Cute was Speaker then,

         22  because I asked where are the blacks? Where are the

         23  Latinos? Where are the women? Because I said women

         24  live in houses, they pay rent, why aren't they on

         25  this committees? And everyone who came before us,
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          2  Julia, was a man. And I said I am sick and tired of

          3  seeing white men in grey flannel suits come before

          4  us and no minorities and no women.

          5                 So, at that time DeMarco said to me

          6  when he was Finance Chair first, you cannot make

          7  that statement. He said this is not about that

          8  affirmative action, this is about the budget. And I

          9  said discrimination is budget. Finance is budget.

         10  Budget is discrimination. And we have to learn that.

         11  Because Julia should be sitting on something. You

         12  look at this Council and you hear her, Julia is one

         13  of the brightest, smartest women.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Oh, Mary.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: No, I am not

         16  doing that. And yet, if they are going to make an

         17  appointment, they are going to go and look for some,

         18  excuse me, gentlemen, present company excepted, they

         19  will find some dimwit man and give him the

         20  appointment and expect Julia to stand and applaud,

         21  and Julia will have more moxy than the person that

         22  they present the award to. And I think it is time we

         23  said enough. Enough.

         24                 And so when we send the letter, we

         25  have to say to the City of New York, all of these
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          2  agencies that come before us, and send a letter to

          3  the corporate interests, I have no problem with

          4  that, but when we send it we have to ask the City of

          5  New York, where are they. Because you tell me who

          6  comes before you that represents the ethnic make-up

          7  of this City. You tell me that. And when you can

          8  answer that question for me, I will be satisfied,

          9  but I don't think you will be satisfied with your

         10  answer, because usually after I have asked that

         11  question they may march in 40 people at the next

         12  hearing, and then they have them stand up. We have

         13  with us today -- this is our person who is in charge

         14  of Human Resources, which is the maintenance

         15  section, and this is the person who is in charge of

         16  Community Relations, those are our titles, no one is

         17  making policy and that, the time has come.

         18                 I want to thank you for your

         19  attendance this morning, and when you look through

         20  this, if you have any suggestions you would like to

         21  add or anything you would like to suggest, we would

         22  appreciate it.

         23                 This meeting stands adjourned.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Thank you.

         25                 (Hearing concluded at 11:35 a.m.)
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